Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: June 29, 2018 REVISED: September 12, 2018 ACCEPTED: September 25, 2018 PUBLISHED: October 1, 2018

Kubo formulas for thermodynamic transport coefficients

Pavel Kovtun and Ashish Shukla

Department of Physics & Astronomy, University of Victoria, PO Box 1700 STN CSC, Victoria, BC, V8W 2Y2, Canada

E-mail: pkovtun@uvic.ca, ashish@uvic.ca

KEYWORDS: Effective Field Theories, Thermal Field Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 1806.05774





Contents

T	Introduction	1
2	Thermodynamics in external fields	3
	2.1 Equilibrium generating functional	3
	2.2 Derivative expansion	5
	2.3 Trace anomaly	7
	2.4 The energy-momentum tensor and the current	9
	2.5 Kubo formulas	10
3	Free fields	12
	3.1 Scalars	12
	3.2 Dirac fermions	14
	3.3 Gauge fields	15
4	Discussion	15
\mathbf{A}	Translation of conventions	16

1 Introduction

膙ջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջ

As we will see later, the second-order thermodynamic transport coefficients in QCD at non-zero baryon number chemical potential (in flat space without external fields) are determined by three thermodynamic transport coefficients at non-zero chemical potential (in flat space without external fields) are determined by three thermodynamic susceptibilities.

Our focus in this paper will be on the Kubo formulas for all nine second-order susceptibilities in 3+1 dimensions. We will be on the Kubo formulas for all nine second-order susceptibilities in 3+1 dimensions. We will be on the kubo formulas for all nine second-order susceptibilities in 3+1 dimensions. We will be on the kubo formulas for the kubo formulas for all nine second-order susceptibilities in 15+1 dimensions. We will be on the kubo formulas for the kubo formulas the kubo formulas to the kubo formulas the kubo formulas the kubo formulas for the kubo formulas to the kubo formulas the kubo formulas to the kubo formulas the kubo formulas the kubo formulas the kubo formulas to the kubo formulas the k

2 Thermodynamics in external fields

2.1 Equilibrium generating functional

We consider a macroscopic system that has degrees of freedom which couple to the external we consider a macroscopic system that has degrees of freedom which couple to the external matrix of a macroscopic system that has degrees of freedom which couple to the external matrix on a matrix on a matrix on a matrix on the system of the matrix on the external matrix on t

⁴We use the mostly-plus convention for the metric.

and the chemical potential are defined as

$$u^{\mu} = \frac{V^{\mu}}{\sqrt{-V^2}}, \quad T = \frac{1}{\beta_0 \sqrt{-V^2}}, \quad \mu = \frac{V^{\mu} A_{\mu} + \Lambda_V}{\sqrt{-V^2}},$$
 (2.1)

$$\pounds_V g_{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad \pounds_V A_\mu + \partial_\mu \Lambda_V = 0. \tag{2.2}$$

For systems with a finite correlation length, the equilibrium generating functional is extensive in the thermodynamic limit, and can be written as

$$W[g,A] = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{F}[g,A], \qquad (2.3)$$

$$\delta W[g,A] = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \, T^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} + \int d^{d+1}x \, \sqrt{-g} \, J^{\mu} \delta A_{\mu} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

The diffeomorphism- and gauge-invariance of W[g, A] imply, respectively,

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = F^{\nu\lambda}J_{\lambda} \,, \tag{2.5a}$$

$$\nabla_{\!\mu}J^{\mu} = 0\,, \qquad (2.5b)$$

where the U(1) gauge field strength is F_{µν} = ∂_µA_ν - ∂_νA_µ. When the external sources g where the U(1) gauge field strength is F_{µν} = ∂_µA_ν - ∂_νA_µ. When the uter the densities of the densities in the densities of the densities in the densities.
We densities the densities in the densities in the densities in the densities.

Before we start writing down the invariants that appear in (2.3), it is worth emphasizing the identities which follow from the invariants that appear in (2.3), it is worth emphasizing the invariants in the invariant is in the invariant in the invariant in the invariant is in the invariant invariant in the inva

$$u^{\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}T = 0,$$
 $u^{\lambda}\partial_{\lambda}\mu = 0,$ (2.6a)

$$a^{\lambda} = -\Delta^{\lambda\nu} \partial_{\nu} T/T \,, \tag{2.6b}$$

$$E^{\lambda} = T \,\Delta^{\lambda\nu} \partial_{\nu} \left(\frac{\mu}{T}\right) \,, \tag{2.6c}$$

$$\nabla \cdot u = 0, \qquad \qquad \sigma^{\mu\nu} = 0. \qquad (2.6d)$$

ਂ and the electric field is E_{μ} = $F_{\mu\nu}u^{\nu}$. The first equation in (2.6) says that T and μ are time-independent in equilibrium. The second equation in (2.6) says that the gravitational time-independent in equilibrium. The second equation in (2.6) says that the gravitation of equation in (2.2] (equilibrium temperature is proportional to $1/\sqrt{-g_{00}}$ in the appropriate coordinates). The time-independent in (2.6) says that the electric field induces a charge gradient. This is a formal way to express the phenomenon of electric screening. Alternatively, if (2.6c) were not true, there would be entropy production due to the bulk and shear viscosities.

$$\delta_{A,F}W = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \left[J^{\mu}_{\rm f} \delta A_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} M^{\mu\nu} \delta F_{\mu\nu} \right] \,,$$

$$J^{\mu} = J^{\mu}_{\rm f} - \nabla_{\lambda} M^{\lambda \mu} \,.$$

$$J^{\mu} = \rho u^{\mu} - \nabla_{\lambda} M^{\lambda \mu} \,, \tag{2.7}$$

2.2 Derivative expansion

We next specify the derivative counting. We choose the counting scheme in which the metric is g_{µν} ~ O(1), so that the reading counting. We choose the counting scheme in which the metric is g_{µν} ~ O(1), so that the reading counting. We choose the counting scheme in a conductive is g_{µν} ~ O(1). If the metric is g_{µν} ~ O(1). If the metric is g_{µν} ~ O(1). If the metric is g_{µν} ~ O(1). We will be considering derived be in a conductive in the redectric field is g_{µν} ~ O(1) magnetic fields, and will take A_µ ~ O(1).

At zeroth order in derivatives we then have only two invariants, T and
 μ . Thus the generating functional is

$$W[g,A] = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} p(T,\mu) + \dots ,$$

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \epsilon u^{\mu} u^{\nu} + p \Delta^{\mu\nu} + \dots , \qquad (2.8a)$$

$$J^{\mu} = nu^{\mu} + \dots, \qquad (2.8b)$$

$$W[g,A] = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[p(T,\mu) + \sum_n f_n(T,\mu) s_n^{(2)} \right] + \dots, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$\nabla \cdot B - B \cdot a + E \cdot \Omega = 0, \qquad (2.10a)$$

$$\nabla \cdot \Omega - 2\Omega \cdot a = 0. \qquad (2.10b)$$

Not all invariants are independent: for example, (2.10b) shows that the Ω are integration of the generating functional may be absorbed into the example, (2.10b) shows that the the format integration of the fn coefficients. Similarly, (2.10a) shows that the E definition of the fn coefficients. Further, in equilibrium we have

$$\nabla \cdot a = u^{\mu} R_{\mu\nu} u^{\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \Omega^2 , \qquad (2.11)$$

 h w h e re *R*_{µν} is the Ricci tensor. As a result, the *u*^µ*R*_{µν}*u*^ν term in the generating functional may be absorbed into the Ω², *a*², and *E* a result, the *u*^µ*R*_{µν}*u*^ν term integration by parts and a redefinition of the *f_n* coefficients. The independent second-order invariants in the generating

⁵For uncharged matter, the $\Omega \cdot a$ term in the generating functional only gives a boundary contribution.

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
$s_n^{(2)}$	R	a^2	Ω^2	B^2	$B \cdot \Omega$	E^2	$E{\cdot}a$	$B \cdot E$	$B \cdot a$
Р	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	—	_
С	+	+	+	+	—	+	—	+	_
Т	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	—	_
W	n/a	n/a	2	4	3	4	n/a	4	n/a

Table 1. Independent O(Q²) equilibrium invariants in 3+1 dimensions. The rows labeled P, C, T indicate the eigenvalue of the corresponding invariants in 3+1 dimensions. The rows labeled P, C, T indicate the eigenvalue of the corresponding invariant under parity, charge conjugation, and time-reversal, respectively. The row labeled W indicates the conformal weight w of the corresponding invariant. The invariants labeled "n/a" do not transform homogeneously under the Weyl rescaling of the text.

$$\int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \left(f(R+d(d-1)a^2) - 2d(\partial f/\partial \mu)E \cdot a \right)$$
(2.12)

2.3 Trace anomaly

$$g_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{a}{16\pi^2} \left(R^2_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} - 4R^2_{\mu\nu} + R^2 \right) + \frac{c}{16\pi^2} \left(R^2_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} - 2R^2_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{3}R^2 \right) - \frac{b_0}{4} F^2_{\mu\nu}. \quad (2.13)$$

vector fields, one has

$$a = \frac{1}{360} \left(N_S + 11 N_F + 62 N_V \right) , \quad c = \frac{1}{120} \left(N_S + 6 N_F + 12 N_V \right) .$$

$$b_0 = \frac{1}{6\pi^2} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n_f} q_{f,i}^2 + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{n_s} q_{s,k}^2 \right) \,,$$

which gives the standard one-loop QED beta-function.

$$g_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}_{4,6} = -f'_4B^2 - f'_6E^2$$

where $f'_n \equiv T f_{n,T} + \mu f_{n,\mu}$, and the comma denotes the derivative with respect to the argument that follows. For the trace anomaly, this has to match $-b_0 \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu}^2 = b_0 \frac{1}{2} (E^2 - B^2)$, which gives $f'_4 = -f'_6 = \frac{b_0}{2}$. This is solved by

$$f_4 = \frac{b_0}{2} \ln \frac{T}{M} + C_4(\mu/T), \quad f_6 = -\frac{b_0}{2} \ln \frac{T}{M} + C_6(\mu/T), \quad (2.14)$$

$$W_{EM} \equiv \int \sqrt{-g} \left(f_4 B^2 + f_6 E^2 - \frac{1}{4e^2} F_{\mu\nu}^2 \right)$$

= $-\frac{1}{4} \int \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{e^2(M)} + b_0 \ln \frac{M}{T} \right] F_{\mu\nu}^2 + \int \sqrt{-g} \left(F_4 B^2 + F_6 E^2 \right) ,$

 w here e²(M) is the renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T), F6(µ/T) are the renormalized susceptibilities. The renormalized coupling, and F4(µ/T), F6(µ/T), F6(µ

2.4 The energy-momentum tensor and the current

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{E}u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + \mathcal{P}\Delta^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{Q}^{\mu}u^{\nu} + \mathcal{Q}^{\nu}u^{\mu} + \mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.15)

$$J^{\mu} = \mathcal{N}u^{\mu} + \mathcal{J}^{\mu} \,, \tag{2.16}$$

$$\mathcal{N} = \rho - \nabla \cdot p + p \cdot a - m \cdot \Omega, \qquad (2.17a)$$

$$\mathcal{J}^{\mu} = \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u_{\nu} \left(\nabla_{\rho} + a_{\rho} \right) m_{\sigma} , \qquad (2.17b)$$

$$\mathcal{E} = \epsilon + (f_1' - f_1)R + (4f_1' + 2f_1'' - f_2 - f_2')a^2 + (f_1' - f_2 - 3f_3 + f_3')\Omega^2 - 2(f_1 + f_1' - f_2)u^{\alpha}R_{\alpha\beta}u^{\beta}, \qquad (2.18a)$$

$$\mathcal{P} = p + \frac{1}{3} f_1 R - \frac{1}{3} (2f_1' + f_3) \Omega^2 - \frac{1}{3} (2f_1' + 4f_1'' - f_2) a^2 + \frac{2}{3} (2f_1' - f_1) u^{\alpha} R_{\alpha\beta} u^{\beta}, \qquad (2.18b)$$

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu} = (f_1' + 2f_3') \epsilon_{\mu\lambda\rho\sigma} a^{\lambda} u^{\rho} \Omega^{\sigma} + (2f_1 + 4f_3) \Delta^{\rho}_{\mu} R_{\rho\sigma} u^{\sigma}, \qquad (2.18c)$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu} = (4f_1' + 2f_1'' - 2f_2)a_{\langle\mu}a_{\nu\rangle} - \frac{1}{2}(f_1' - 4f_3)\Omega_{\langle\mu}\Omega_{\nu\rangle} + 2f_1'u^{\alpha}R_{\alpha\langle\mu\nu\rangle\beta}u^{\beta} - 2f_1R_{\langle\mu\nu\rangle}, \quad (2.18d)$$

where again

$$\begin{aligned} f'_n &\equiv T f_{n,T} + \mu f_{n,\mu} \,, \\ f''_n &\equiv T^2 f_{n,T,T} + 2\mu T f_{n,T,\mu} + \mu^2 f_{n,\mu,\mu} \end{aligned}$$

The polarization vectors which determine the equilibrium current (2.17) are

$$p^{\alpha} = 2f_6 E^{\alpha} + f_7 a^{\alpha} + f_8 B^{\alpha}, \qquad (2.19a)$$

$$m^{\alpha} = 2f_4 B^{\alpha} + f_5 \Omega^{\alpha} + f_8 E^{\alpha} + f_9 a^{\alpha}.$$
 (2.19b)

$$\mathcal{N} = n + f_{1,\mu}R + (f_{2,\mu} + f_7 + f_7')a^2 + \left(f_{3,\mu} - f_5 + \frac{1}{2}f_7\right)\Omega^2 - f_7 u^{\alpha}R_{\alpha\beta}u^{\beta}, \quad (2.20a)$$

$$\mathcal{J}^{\mu} = -(f_5 + f_5')\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u_{\nu}a_{\rho}\Omega_{\sigma} + 2f_5\Delta^{\mu\rho}R_{\rho\lambda}u^{\lambda}, \qquad (2.20b)$$

where $n \equiv \partial p / \partial \mu$ is the zeroth-order charge density.

2.5 Kubo formulas

$$\delta_g(\sqrt{-g} T^{\mu\nu}) = \frac{1}{2} G_{T^{\mu\nu}T^{\alpha\beta}}(\omega=0,\mathbf{k}) \,\delta g_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{k}) \,, \qquad (2.21a)$$

$$\delta_g(\sqrt{-g} J^{\mu}) = \frac{1}{2} G_{J^{\mu}T^{\alpha\beta}}(\omega=0,\mathbf{k}) \,\delta g_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{k}) \,, \qquad (2.21b)$$

$$\delta_A(\sqrt{-g}\,J^\mu) = G_{J^\mu J^\nu}(\omega=0,\mathbf{k})\,\delta A_\nu(\mathbf{k})\,. \tag{2.21c}$$

膙ջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջջ

$$f_1 = -\frac{1}{2} \lim_{\mathbf{k} \to 0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial k_z^2} G_{T^{xy}T^{xy}} = \frac{1}{4} \lim_{\mathbf{k} \to 0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial k_z^2} G_{T^{xx}T^{yy}}, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$f_2 = \frac{1}{4} \lim_{\mathbf{k} \to 0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial k_z^2} \left(G_{T^{tt}T^{tt}} + 2G_{T^{tt}T^{xx}} - 4G_{T^{xy}T^{xy}} \right) , \qquad (2.23)$$

$$f_3 = \frac{1}{4} \lim_{\mathbf{k} \to 0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial k_z^2} \left(G_{T^{tx}T^{tx}} + G_{T^{xy}T^{xy}} \right) \,. \tag{2.24}$$

$$f_4 = \frac{1}{4} \lim_{\mathbf{k} \to 0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial k_z^2} G_{J^x J^x} \,, \tag{2.25}$$

$$f_5 = \frac{1}{2} \lim_{\mathbf{k} \to 0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial k_z^2} G_{J^x T^{tx}} , \qquad (2.26)$$

$$f_6 = \frac{1}{4} \lim_{\mathbf{k} \to 0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial k_z^2} G_{J^t J^t} , \qquad (2.27)$$

$$f_7 = -\frac{1}{2} \lim_{\mathbf{k} \to 0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial k_z^2} (G_{J^t T^{tt}} + G_{J^t T^{xx}}).$$
(2.28)

$$J^{t} = p_{,\mu} + O(h_{tt}, h_{tt}'') - \frac{1}{2} f_{9} h_{tt}'(z) h_{tx}'(y) + O\left(h_{tx} h_{tx}'', h_{tx}'^{2}, h_{tt} h_{tt}'', h_{tt}'^{2}, h_{tt}^{2}\right) .$$
(2.29)

$$J^{t} = p_{,\mu} + O(h_{tt}, h_{tt}'') + \frac{1}{2}h_{tt}'(z)A_{x}'(y)(f_{8}' + f_{9,\mu}) + O\left(A_{x}'^{2}, h_{tt}h_{tt}'', h_{tt}'^{2}, h_{tt}^{2}\right) .$$
(2.30)

⁸One can write down Kubo formulae for parity-breaking thermodynamic transport coefficients in 2+1 dimensions in terms of equilibrium two-point functions, see [5].



Taking the variation of the one-point functions (2.29), (2.30) with respect to the sources having the variation of the one-point functions (2.29), (2.30) with respect to the sources of the one-point functions of (2.29), (2.30) with respect to the one-point functions of the sources having the one-point functions (2.29), (2.30) with respect to the one-point functions of the one-point functions (2.29), (2.30) with respect to the one-point functions

3 Free fields

3.1 Scalars

We start with the massless real scalar field. The action is [28]

$$S = -\frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \phi \, \partial_\nu \phi + \xi R \phi^2 \right)$$

$$\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = \nabla^{\mu}\phi\,\nabla^{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\,g^{\mu\nu}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\,\partial_{\beta}\phi - \xi\left(\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu} - g^{\mu\nu}\nabla^{2}\right)\phi^{2} + \xi\phi^{2}G^{\mu\nu},$$

$$\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = O(g(\partial\phi)^2) + O(g\partial^2\phi^2) + O(\partial g\partial\phi^2) + O(\phi^2\partial^2 g) .$$

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta g_{\alpha\beta}(y)}\sqrt{-g}\,\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) = A^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta}\delta(x-y) + B^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho}\partial_{\rho}\delta(x-y) + C^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\delta(x-y)\,,$$

$$P^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma} = \eta^{\mu(\alpha}\eta^{\beta)(\sigma}\eta^{\rho)\nu} + \eta^{\mu(\rho}\eta^{\sigma)(\beta}\eta^{\alpha)\nu} - \eta^{\mu(\alpha}\eta^{\beta)\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma} - \eta^{\mu(\rho}\eta^{\sigma)\nu}\eta^{\alpha\beta} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\alpha(\rho}\eta^{\sigma)\beta} + \eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma}\eta^{\alpha\beta},$$

$$G_{T^{\mu\nu}T^{\alpha\beta}}(\mathbf{k}) = \langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}\hat{T}^{\alpha\beta}\rangle(\mathbf{k}) - \xi \langle \phi^2 \rangle P^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}k_\rho k_\sigma \,. \tag{3.1}$$

The contact term contributes a simple "bubble" diagram with

$$\left\langle \phi^2 \right\rangle = \frac{T^2}{12} \, .$$

$$f_1 = \frac{T^2}{144} (1 - 6\xi) , \quad f_2 = 0 , \quad f_3 = -\frac{T^2}{144} .$$
 (3.2)

The rest of the susceptibilities f_n vanish for the real scalar field.

$$f_4 = -f_6 = \frac{1}{48\pi^2} \ln \frac{T}{M}, \qquad (3.3)$$

3.2 Dirac fermions

We now consider a massless Dirac fermion field at $\mu = 0$. The action is given by [28]

$$S = -i \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \,\bar{\Psi} \underline{\gamma}^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \Psi.$$

$$\left\{\underline{\gamma}^{\mu}(x), \underline{\gamma}^{\nu}(x)\right\} = 2 g^{\mu\nu}(x), \quad \left\{\gamma^{a}, \gamma^{b}\right\} = 2 \eta^{ab}.$$

The covariant derivative acting on the fermion field is given by

$$\nabla_{\!\mu}\Psi = \partial_{\mu}\Psi + \frac{1}{2}\,\omega^{ab}_{\mu}\,\sigma_{ab}\,\Psi,$$

where $\sigma_{ab} \equiv \frac{1}{4} [\gamma_a, \gamma_b]$, and ω_{μ}^{ab} is the spin connection,

$$\omega_{\mu}^{ab} = \frac{1}{2} e^{a\nu} \left(\partial_{\mu} e^{b}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} e^{b}_{\mu} \right) - \frac{1}{2} e^{b\nu} \left(\partial_{\mu} e^{a}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} e^{a}_{\mu} \right) + \frac{1}{2} e^{a\nu} e^{b\rho} \left(\partial_{\rho} e^{c}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} e^{c}_{\rho} \right) e_{c\mu}$$

The energy-momentum tensor is

$$\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g_{\mu\nu}} = \frac{e_a^{\nu}}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta e_{a\mu}}$$

which gives

$$\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{4} \left(\bar{\Psi} \underline{\gamma}^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} \Psi - \nabla^{\mu} \bar{\Psi} \underline{\gamma}^{\nu} \Psi + \bar{\Psi} \underline{\gamma}^{\nu} \nabla^{\mu} \Psi - \nabla^{\nu} \bar{\Psi} \underline{\gamma}^{\mu} \Psi \right).$$
(3.4)

$$G_{T^{\mu\nu}T^{\alpha\beta}}(\mathbf{k}) = \langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}\hat{T}^{\alpha\beta}\rangle(\mathbf{k}), \qquad (3.5)$$

$$f_1 = -\frac{T^2}{144}, \quad f_2 = -\frac{T^2}{24}, \quad f_3 = -\frac{T^2}{288}.$$
 (3.6)

Minimally coupling the Dirac current, $\hat{J}^{\mu} = -\bar{\Psi}\underline{\gamma}^{\mu}\Psi$, to the external gauge field A_{μ}

$$f_4 = -f_6 = \frac{1}{12\pi^2} \ln \frac{T}{M}, \qquad (3.7)$$

3.3 Gauge fields

$$S = -\frac{1}{4} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu}$$

with the energy-momentum tensor

$$\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = F^{\mu\alpha}F^{\nu}_{\ \alpha} - \frac{1}{4}\,g^{\mu\nu}F^{\alpha\beta}F_{\alpha\beta}$$

$$f_1 = -\frac{T^2}{36}, \quad f_2 = -\frac{T^2}{6}, \quad f_3 = \frac{T^2}{36}, \quad (3.8)$$

with the other susceptibilities vanishing.

4 Discussion

Acknowledgments

A Translation of conventions

$$\epsilon_{,T}\delta T + \epsilon_{,\mu}\delta\mu = \mathcal{E} - \epsilon ,$$

$$n_{,T}\delta T + n_{,\mu}\delta\mu = \mathcal{N} - n$$

$$(\epsilon + p)\delta u^{\mu} = \mathcal{Q}^{\mu} ,$$

$$\kappa_1 = -\frac{2}{T} f_1, \qquad \kappa_2 = -\frac{2}{T} f_1',$$
(A.1a)

$$\lambda_3 = -\frac{2}{T} \left(f_1' - 4f_3 \right), \quad \lambda_4 = \frac{1}{T} \left(4f_1' + 2f_1'' - 2f_2 \right), \tag{A.1b}$$

$$\zeta_2 = \frac{c_s^2}{T} \left(f_1 - f_1' \right) + \frac{1}{3T} f_1 , \qquad (A.1c)$$

$$\zeta_3 = -\frac{2c_s^2}{T} \left(f_2 - f_1 - f_1' \right) + \frac{2}{3T} \left(2f_1' - f_1 \right), \tag{A.1d}$$

$$\xi_3 = \frac{2c_s^2}{T} \left(f_1' - f_2 - 3f_3 + f_3' \right) + \frac{2}{3T} \left(f_3 + 2f_1' \right), \tag{A.1e}$$

$$\xi_4 = -\frac{c_s^2}{T} \left(4f_1' + 2f_1'' - f_2' - f_2 \right) - \frac{1}{3T} \left(4f_1'' + 2f_1' - f_2 \right).$$
(A.1f)

 stand for f'_n = Tf_{n,T}, f''_n = T²f_{n,T} (in an uncharged fluid), the comma denotes stand for f'_n = Tf_{n,T}, f''_n = T²f_{n,T} (in an uncharged fluid), the comma denotes stand denotes stand for the transformer to tra

$$\kappa = -2f_1, \qquad \kappa^* = f_1' - 2f_1, \qquad (A.2a)$$

$$\lambda_3 = 2(f_1' - 4f_3), \quad \lambda_4 = c_s^4 \left(4f_1' + 2f_1'' - 2f_2 \right), \tag{A.2b}$$

$$\xi_3 = -2c_s^2 \left(f_1' - f_2 - 3f_3 + f_3' \right) - \frac{2}{3} \left(f_3 + 2f_1' \right), \tag{A.2c}$$

$$\xi_4 = -c_s^6 \left(4f_1' + 2f_1'' - f_2' - f_2 \right) - \frac{1}{3}c_s^4 \left(4f_1'' + 2f_1' - f_2 \right), \qquad (A.2d)$$

$$\xi_5 = c_s^2 \left(f_1 - f_1' \right) + \frac{1}{3} f_1 \,, \tag{A.2e}$$

$$\xi_6 = -2c_s^2 \left(f_2 - f_1 - f_1' \right) + \frac{2}{3} \left(2f_1' - f_1 \right).$$
(A.2f)

These conversion formulas can be used to compare our results with those of [12], which gives Kubo formulas for \lambda_3 and \lambda_4 in terms of three-point functions of T^{\u03cm\u03c}

$$T^{xy} = (f'_1 - f_1)h_{tt,x,y} + \frac{1}{2} \left[f''_1 + 2f'_1 - 2f_1 \right] h_{tt}h_{tt,x,y} + \frac{1}{2} \left[f''_1 + 3f'_1 - f_1 - f_2 \right] h_{tt,x}h_{tt,y} .$$
(A.3)

$$T^{xx} = p + \left[f_3 - \frac{3}{2}f_1\right]h_{ty,z}^2 - 2f_1h_{ty}h_{ty,z,z}.$$
 (A.4)

Upon using the translation (A.2), one finds a Kubo formula for λ_3 .

$$\begin{split} M_1 &= \frac{1}{T^3} \left(f_2 - 2f_1' \right) \,, \qquad M_2 = Tf_6 \,, \qquad M_3 = -\frac{1}{T} \left(f_7 + 2f_{1,\mu} \right) \,, \qquad M_7 = \frac{f_1}{T} \,, \\ M_4 &= \frac{1}{2T^3} \left(\frac{1}{2} f_1 + \frac{1}{2} f_3 + \mu^2 f_4 + \mu f_5 \right) \,, \qquad M_5 = \frac{f_4}{2T} \,, \qquad M_6 = \frac{1}{2T^2} \left(f_5 + 2\mu f_4 \right) \,, \\ N_1 &= \frac{1}{2T} \left(\mu f_8 + 2f_9 \right) \,, \qquad \qquad N_2 = \frac{f_8}{2T_0} \,, \end{split}$$

References

- C. Gale, S. Jeon and B. Schenke, Hydrodynamic modeling of heavy-ion collisions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 28 (2013) 1340011 [arXiv:1301.5893] [INSPIRE].
- [2] S. Jeon and U. Heinz, Introduction to hydrodynamics, Int. J. Mod. Phys. E 24 (2015) 1530010 [arXiv:1503.03931] [INSPIRE].
- [4] S. Bhattacharyya, V.E. Hubeny, S. Minwalla and M. Rangamani, Nonlinear fluid dynamics from gravity, JHEP 02 (2008) 045 [arXiv:0712.2456] [INSPIRE].
- [5] K. Jensen, M. Kaminski, P. Kovtun, R. Meyer, A. Ritz and A. Yarom, *Parity-violating hydrodynamics in 2 + 1 dimensions*, *JHEP* 05 (2012) 102 [arXiv:1112.4498] [INSPIRE].
- [6] N. Banerjee, J. Bhattacharya, S. Bhattacharyya, S. Jain, S. Minwalla and T. Sharma, Constraints on fluid dynamics from equilibrium partition functions, JHEP 09 (2012) 046 [arXiv:1203.3544] [INSPIRE].
- K. Jensen, M. Kaminski, P. Kovtun, R. Meyer, A. Ritz and A. Yarom, Towards hydrodynamics without an entropy current, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 101601
 [arXiv:1203.3556] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S. Bhattacharyya, Constraints on the second order transport coefficients of an uncharged fluid, JHEP 07 (2012) 104 [arXiv:1201.4654] [INSPIRE].
- [9] F.M. Haehl, R. Loganayagam and M. Rangamani, Adiabatic hydrodynamics: the eightfold way to dissipation, JHEP 05 (2015) 060 [arXiv:1502.00636] [INSPIRE].
- [10] G.D. Moore and K.A. Sohrabi, Kubo formulae for second-order hydrodynamic coefficients, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 122302 [arXiv:1007.5333] [INSPIRE].
- P. Arnold, D. Vaman, C. Wu and W. Xiao, Second order hydrodynamic coefficients from 3-point stress tensor correlators via AdS/CFT, JHEP 10 (2011) 033 [arXiv:1105.4645]
 [INSPIRE].
- [12] G.D. Moore and K.A. Sohrabi, Thermodynamical second-order hydrodynamic coefficients, JHEP 11 (2012) 148 [arXiv:1210.3340] [INSPIRE].
- [13] P. Romatschke and D.T. Son, Spectral sum rules for the quark-gluon plasma, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 065021 [arXiv:0903.3946] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Buzzegoli, E. Grossi and F. Becattini, General equilibrium second-order hydrodynamic coefficients for free quantum fields, JHEP 10 (2017) 091 [Erratum ibid. 07 (2018) 119]
 [arXiv:1704.02808] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Chapman, C. Hoyos and Y. Oz, Superfluid Kubo formulas from partition function, JHEP 04 (2014) 186 [arXiv:1310.2247] [INSPIRE].
- [17] O. Philipsen and C. Schäfer, The second order hydrodynamic transport coefficient κ for the gluon plasma from the lattice, JHEP **02** (2014) 003 [arXiv:1311.6618] [INSPIRE].

- [19] S. Bhattacharyya, Entropy current from partition function: one example, JHEP 07 (2014) 139 [arXiv:1403.7639] [INSPIRE].
- [20] K. Jensen, R. Loganayagam and A. Yarom, Anomaly inflow and thermal equilibrium, JHEP 05 (2014) 134 [arXiv:1310.7024] [INSPIRE].
- [21] P. Kovtun, Thermodynamics of polarized relativistic matter, JHEP 07 (2016) 028
 [arXiv:1606.01226] [INSPIRE].
- [22] R. Tolman and P. Ehrenfest, Temperature equilibrium in a static gravitational field, Phys. Rev. 36 (1930) 1791 [INSPIRE].
- M.J. Duff, Twenty years of the Weyl anomaly, Class. Quant. Grav. 11 (1994) 1387
 [hep-th/9308075] [INSPIRE].
- [25] C. Eling, Y. Oz, S. Theisen and S. Yankielowicz, Conformal anomalies in hydrodynamics, JHEP 05 (2013) 037 [arXiv:1301.3170] [INSPIRE].
- [26] M.L. Bellac, Thermal field theory, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K., (1996) [INSPIRE].
- [27] J.I. Kapusta and C. Gale, *Finite-temperature field theory*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K., (2011) [INSPIRE].
- [28] L.E. Parker and D. Toms, *Quantum field theory in curved spacetime*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K., (2009) [INSPIRE].
- [29] J. Hernandez and P. Kovtun, Relativistic magnetohydrodynamics, JHEP 05 (2017) 001 [arXiv:1703.08757] [INSPIRE].
- [30] P. Kovtun, Lectures on hydrodynamic fluctuations in relativistic theories, J. Phys. A 45 (2012) 473001 [arXiv:1205.5040] [INSPIRE].